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OPINION

REINHARDT, Circuit Judge:

This story has no happy ending, and it was unhappy long
before the events in question transpired. For years before she
ultimately committed suicide in the Washoe County Jail,
Brenda Clustka (“Clustka™) struggled with alcohol abuse and
serious mental health problems, including suicidal ideation.
The longevity of her struggle and the persistence of her prob-
lems, however, do not absolve the defendants if they were
deliberately indifferent to her serious medical need and as a
result played a causal role in her death.

While transporting Clustka to civil protective custody, two
Reno police officers witnessed her wrap a seatbelt around her
neck in an apparent attempt to choke herself and then scream
that they should Kill her or else she would kill herself. The
officers failed to report the incident to jail personnel or take
her to a hospital. Clustka was released from protective cus-
tody a few hours later. The next day, she was again detained
on a misdemeanor charge. During this second detention, less
than 48 hours after the suicide threats, Clustka hanged herself
in her cell.

When an individual is taken into custody and thereby
deprived of her liberty, the officials who hold her against her
will are constitutionally obligated to respond if a serious med-
ical need should arise. If, with deliberate indifference, these
officials fail to respond appropriately and instead act in a
manner that will foreseeably result in harm, they violate her
due process rights. The same is true when a municipality, with
deliberate indifference, fails to train its law enforcement offi-
cers or fails to adopt and implement policies when it is highly
predictable that such inaction will result in constitutional vio-
lations.

We hold that, on the facts presented, a reasonable jury
could find that the defendant police officers are liable under
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42 U.S.C. § 1983 for their deliberate indifference to Clustka’s
serious medical need, and that their actions were a cause in
fact and a proximate cause of her suicide. Likewise, a jury
could find the City of Reno liable for its failure to train its law
enforcement officers or to implement policies on suicide pre-
vention and reporting. For these reasons, and as explained fur-
ther below, we reverse the district court’s grant of summary
judgment in favor of the defendants and allow Clustka’s sur-
viving children to bring their claims before a jury.

I. BACKGROUND
A.

Petitioners Charla and Dustin Conn (“the Conns”) are the
surviving children of Brenda Clustka, who committed suicide
on April 28, 2005 while in custody and awaiting trial at the
Washoe County Jail.

Clustka had long struggled with mental health problems
and suicidal ideation. She also had a history of repeated
encounters with the law: she had multiple misdemeanor con-
victions, including for domestic violence, larceny, and driving
under the influence. Between 2001 and 2004, Clustka was
involuntarily committed to the Nevada Mental Health Insti-
tute (“NMHI) on three separate occasions under a Legal 2000*
for threatening or attempting suicide. Her mental health fur-
ther deteriorated in 2005.

On March 19, 2005, Clustka was arrested for domestic bat-
tery of her mother. Officer Ashton (“Ashton”), one of the
defendants in this case, was present during the arrest. Once in
custody, Clustka stated that she “[wouldn’t] make it in jail”

A Legal 2000 is a procedure under Nevada law whereby people suffer-
ing from mental illness or who may be a danger to themselves or others
may be involuntarily committed to a mental health facility for up to 72
hours.
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and was placed on prison suicide watch. She was detained for
just over one month and released on April 21, 2005.

A few days later, on April 25, 2005, Clustka relapsed into
suicidal ideation. She was taken to Washoe Medical Center
where she threatened to commit suicide in the emergency
room by overdosing on her medication. Clustka was evaluated
as suffering from “acute suicidal ideation” and transferred to
NMHI on a Legal 2000. Her NMHI intake assessment states
that she was at “serious risk of harm.” At 9:06 a.m. the next
morning, however, Clustka was medically evaluated and
released. According to the evaluating doctor, Clustka denied
that she had any suicidal thoughts; she said she was “feeling
‘tired” but otherwise well” and was assessed to be only at a
“low risk of harm” at the time of discharge.

Several hours later on April 26, 2005, at 2:43 p.m., Ashton
and his co-defendant, Officer Robertson (“Robertson”), were
dispatched in response to a 911 call, which reported that
someone, who turned out to be Clustka, was passed out on the
sidewalk. The officers found Clustka in a “grossly intoxicat-
ed” state; she “had a difficult time walking without assis-
tance.” Ashton, who had been one of the arresting officers
handling the domestic battery call a month earlier, recognized
Clustka on sight. The officers decided to take Clustka to
Washoe County Jail on Civil Protective Custody (“CPC”) for
her own safety until she sobered up. They ran a “wants and
warrants check” and were cautioned of Clustka’s “violent ten-
dencies, [that she was] known to abuse drugs, [was an] alco-
holic [and had] other mental health problems.” Ashton
admitted that he was aware of Clustka’s violent tendencies
and mental health problems; nevertheless, the defendants
chose not to handcuff her because she was being detained for
her own protection, not on a criminal charge.

Clustka did not want to be taken to jail; she became agi-
tated and uncooperative when told where she was going. Rob-
ertson then told Clustka, falsely, that they would take her,
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instead, to her residence. Robertson testified that he lied
because Clustka was belligerent, and because he wanted to
cajole her into the paddy wagon cooperatively, which he suc-
ceeded in doing.

En route to the jail, with her hands free, Clustka removed
her seatbelt. She began walking around the back of the paddy
wagon and tapping on the video surveillance camera to get the
officers’ attention. According to Ashton, he asked Robertson
if they should pull over to secure Clustka in her seat, but Rob-
ertson decided against it, as they were near the jail and he
wanted to avoid any further confrontation. Both officers
believed that there was a Reno Police Department policy and
a state law requiring the wearing of seatbelts.

As they neared the jail, Clustka realized where she was
being taken and became angry, belligerent, and uncoopera-
tive. As Ashton observed her through the surveillance camera,
Clustka returned to her seat and wrapped the seatbelt around
her neck, in an apparent attempt to choke herself. The officers
pulled over, unwrapped the seatbelt from her neck, and hand-
cuffed her. Clustka was screaming as they did so. She yelled
something to the effect of, “You lied to me. Just kill me. I’ll
kill myself then.”

Both Ashton and Robertson testified that they interpreted
Clustka’s words and actions as a mere attempt to get their
attention and “to manipulate the situation,” and that they did
not believe Clustka’s threats to be serious. However, Ashton
admitted that he did not believe that wrapping the seatbelt
around her neck was a “joke.” Ashton, who had been on the
police force for only seven months, remembered asking Rob-
ertson, a nearly eighteen-year veteran, whether he should
write up a report on the incident, but that Robertson said no.
Robertson testified that he “told [Ashton] if he wanted to
report it, he could report it.” Ashton testified that he was
unaware of any written policy mandating the reporting of
such incidents.
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When they arrived with Clustka at the jail, neither defen-
dant notified jail personnel that Clustka had tried to choke
herself or that she had threatened to commit suicide. Instead,
Ashton told jail personnel that Clustka was disoriented. The
defendants did not write a report nor inform their supervising
sergeant about the incident that day. Both asserted that it did
not occur to them to report it.

Upon arrival at the jail, Clustka underwent a brief intake
assessment, was held in CPC at the Washoe County Jail for
nearly four hours, and was released without further inquiry
around 8:00 p.m. Upon her release, she was served with a
Temporary Protective Order (“TPO”), which her mother had
earlier sought and obtained on account of domestic battery.
The TPO ordered Clustka to stay away from her mother’s res-
idence, where she had been living, and to retrieve her personal
belongings only in the company of police officers. There is no
indication whether any other place was available where
Clustka would be able to sleep.

That evening, notwithstanding the TPO, Clustka returned to
her mother’s house, and her mother called 911 to report that
Clustka was causing a disturbance. Clustka, again grossly
intoxicated, was taken to the emergency room, readmitted for
observation, and released around 3:00 a.m.

The next day, on April 27, 2005, Clustka again returned to
her mother’s residence to collect her belongings and was
arrested by two officers (not defendants) for violating the
restraining order. She was returned to Washoe County Jalil.

After Clustka was booked, she was medically screened by
the nurse on duty and recommended for assignment to the
general inmate population. Because Clustka had been on sui-
cide watch during her previous detention in March, she was
placed in the mental health unit in a red jumper to alert staff
that she was a high risk detainee. She was not, however,
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placed on suicide watch at this time. As a result there was a
bed sheet available in her cell.

The following morning, on April 28, 2005, Clustka was
escorted to and from her video arraignment. On the way back
from the arraignment, at 8:35 a.m., she became upset and
started crying because she wanted to make a phone call. At
9:17 a.m., she did not respond to the roll call. A deputy went
to check on her and immediately called a Code 50.> Clustka
had committed suicide by hanging herself with the bed sheet.

The morning of Clustka’s suicide, Ashton happened to be
present at the Washoe County Jail on an unrelated matter. He
recognized Clustka’s photograph and told a prison deputy that
“she tried to choke herself out in the back of the wagon on
Tuesday.” Ashton explained to another deputy that a few days
earlier, he had transported Clustka to CPC — without hand-
cuffs — and that “she tried to hang herself in the wagon.” He
stated that his more senior partner had declined to document
the incident. Ashton said that he would now write up a report
and predicted that his “sergeant will be pissed.”

B.

From January 2004 through August 2005, six detainees in
Washoe County Jail committed suicide. Clustka’s suicide fol-
lowed less than 30 days after that of another detainee.

On May 11, 2005, less than one month after Clustka’s sui-
cide, the Reno Police Department, apparently for the first
time, presented a class on “handling the mentally ill” to better
explain the Legal 2000 procedures. In May 2005, a new sui-
cide prevention policy was implemented. At intake, the arrest-
ing officer must now answer a series of questions concerning
the detainee’s mental health, including questions about sui-

Code 50 is a jail response when an inmate attempts suicide. Officers
and medical personnel rush to the scene.
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cide risk. This policy was not adopted until after Clustka’s
death.

C.

After Clustka committed suicide, her surviving children,
the Conns, filed suit in the District of Nevada under 42 U.S.C.
8§ 1983. They sued Officers Robertson and Ashton for deliber-
ate indifference to Clustka’s serious medical need — her sui-
cide risk — which, they alleged, resulted in her death. They
also sued the City of Reno under § 1983 for, inter alia, its
failure to train its law enforcement officers and to implement
policies on suicide prevention and reporting. The district court
found that the Conns had presented insufficient evidence to
raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the officers
were deliberately indifferent to a serious medical need by fail-
ing to report the choking incident and suicide threat and
whether such failure to report was the proximate cause of
Clustka’s death. Consequently, the district court concluded
that there was no basis on which a jury could find either indi-
vidual liability or municipal liability and granted the defen-
dants’ motion for summary judgment. The Conns appeal, and
We reverse.

Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW

We review a grant of summary judgment by the district
court de novo. McDonald v. Sun Qil Co., 548 F.3d 774, 778
(9th Cir. 2008). We examine all evidence in the light most
favorable to the non-moving party, id.; Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, and
“do[ ] not weigh the evidence or determine the truth of the
matter, but only determine [ ] whether there is a genuine issue
for trial,” Balint v. Carson City, 180 F.3d 1047, 1054 (9th Cir.
1999) (en banc). “A dispute as to a material fact is genuine
if there is sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to return
a verdict for the non-moving party.” Long v. County of Los
Angeles, 442 F.3d 1178, 1185 (citing Anderson v. Liberty
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Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). If such is the case,
“summary judgment will not lie.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248.

I11. DISCUSSION
A. Individual Liability

[1] The Eighth Amendment protects inmates from cruel and
unusual punishment, which includes the denial of medical
care. Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102-03 (1976). Pretrial
detainees, by contrast, are protected under the Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Or. Advocacy Ctr v.
Mink, 322 F.3d 1101, 1120 (9th Cir. 2003). Although courts
have borrowed from Eighth Amendment jurisprudence in giv-
ing shape to pretrial detainees’ substantive due process rights,
see Frost v. Agnos, 152 F.3d 1124, 1128 (9th Cir. 1998), that
amendment establishes only “a minimum standard of care,”
Mink, 322 F.3d at 1120 (emphasis in original).®

[2] The Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments both guarantee
that inmates and detainees receive constitutionally adequate
medical and mental health care. Doty v. County of Lassen, 37
F.3d 540, 546 (9th Cir 1994). An official’s deliberate indiffer-
ence to a substantial risk of serious harm to an inmate —
including the deprivation of a serious medical need — vio-
lates the Eighth Amendment, and a fortiori, the Fourteenth
Amendment. Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 828 (1994);
Frost, 152 F.3d at 1128. To set forth a constitutional claim
under the Eighth Amendment predicated upon the failure to
provide medical treatment,

®Because here, the Conns prevail under the Eighth Amendment deliber-
ate indifference standard, we need not further explicate in this case the
more lenient but more amorphous test under the Fourteenth Amendment
that has been suggested by our case law. See, e.g., City of Revere v. Mass.
Gen. Hospital, 463 U.S. 239, 244 (1983); Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S.
307, 321-22 (1982); Gibson v. County of Washoe, 290 F.3d 1175, 1188 n.9
(9th Cir. 2002); Mink, 322 F.3d at 1120, 1121 n.11; Jones v. Blanas, 393
F.3d 918, 934 (9th Cir. 2004).
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[flirst, the plaintiff must show a “serious medical
need” by demonstrating that “failure to treat a pris-
oner’s condition could result in further significant
injury or the ‘unnecessary and wanton infliction of
pain.” ” Second, the plaintiff must show the defen-
dant’s response to the need was deliberately indiffer-
ent.

Jett v. Penner, 439 F.3d 1091, 1096 (9th Cir 2006) (internal
citations omitted). The second prong requires both “(a) a pur-
poseful act or failure to respond to a prisoner’s pain or possi-
ble medical need and (b) harm caused by the indifference.” 1d.
Deliberate indifference thus requires an objective risk of harm
and a subjective awareness of that harm. Farmer, 511 U.S. at
837. We address these requirements — serious medical need,
indifference to that need, and harm caused by that indiffer-
ence — each in turn.

1. “Serious medical need”

[3] We recognize that a prisoner has a “serious” medical
need if the failure to treat the condition could result in further
significant injury or the “unnecessary and wanton infliction of
pain.” Doty, 37 F.3d at 546 (citing McGuckin, 974 F.2d at
1059). A heightened suicide risk or an attempted suicide is a
serious medical need. See id. (citing Torraco v. Maloney, 923
F.2d 231, 235 & n.4 (Ist Cir. 1991)); see also Colburn v.
Upper Darby Twp., 946 F.2d 1017, 1023 (3d Cir. 1991) (“A
‘particular vulnerability to suicide’ represents a “serious medi-
cal need.” ™).

The district court did not decide whether summary judg-
ment would be appropriate on the issue of serious medical
need, although it commented that the evidence suggested that
“Clustka’s medical needs . . . were not objectively serious
enough to find a 14th Amendment violation.” We disagree.
The Conns presented sufficient evidence of their mother’s
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objective, serious medical need for a reasonable jury to find
in their favor.

[4] First, the significance of Clustka’s medical evaluations
around the time of the choking incident and suicide threat is
disputed and presents a question for the jury. It is true that
Clustka underwent several medical evaluations in the days
before and after she tried to choke herself in the paddy wagon,
and that only one of these evaluations found her to be at seri-
ous risk of harm. The defendants argue that, for this reason,
the evaluations establish that Clustka did not present a serious
health risk. Their interpretation, however, is not conclusive;
rather, the conflict in the evaluations in itself raises a genuine
issue of fact for the jury to resolve. Moreover, due to the
police officers’ failure to report the choking incident and sui-
cide threat, Clustka’s evaluators were unaware of those events
when they assessed Clustka’s mental health, and their conclu-
sions were drawn in the absence of significant information
that would have supported the Conns’ position.

[5] Second, Clustka’s long and undisputed history of men-
tal health problems, alcohol and substance abuse, and suicide
threats and attempts — including suicidal ideation the day
before the incident in the paddy wagon — supports the con-
clusion that the threat to Clustka’s health was objectively seri-
ous, and that if untreated, she was likely to suffer further
significant injury.

[6] Third, the choking incident, accompanied by Clustka’s
threat to kill herself, constituted adequate objective evidence
of a serious medical need. Although Ashton conceded that
Clustka was not joking when she wrapped the seatbelt around
her neck, the defendants attempt to minimize the seriousness
of Clustka’s situation by characterizing her threats as “manip-
ulative” — as an attempt to catch the officers’ attention and
to avoid going to jail. The members of the jury, however, are
entrusted with the responsibility to weigh the officers’ inter-
pretation of the events against other reasonable inferences
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more favorable to the plaintiffs. The events may appear differ-
ently to the jury than they purportedly did, in hindsight, to
Ashton and Robertson. To the jury, that Clustka attempted to
choke herself with a seatbelt and screamed at the defendants
that they should kill her or she would kill herself may, by
itself, be sufficient to establish her serious medical need. This
is particularly so since the Conns presented evidence that sui-
cide threats by detainees must always be taken seriously.

The defendants contend that, even if Clustka truly intended
to harm herself, there was no genuine possibility that she
would have succeeded in killing herself in the paddy wagon.
The defendants argue, rather callously, that the seatbelt would
have slackened if and when she passed out, and that Clustka
was therefore at no real risk of dying. This, of course, is
beside the point. Whether Clustka’s life was in danger en
route to the jail does not affect the more important question
whether Clustka was at a heightened risk of killing herself in
the near future, as she ultimately did — a heightened risk that
itself presents a serious medical need. It is not necessary,
moreover, that a serious medical need imminently result in
death — an attempted suicide is sufficient. See Doty, 37 F.3d
at 546 (citing Torraco, 923 F.2d at 235 & n.4).

[7] An objective juror could certainly conclude that in light
of all the circumstances Clustka’s actions evidenced a serious
medical need. The defendants’ attempts to cast doubt on the
gravity of Clustka’s words and actions merely create a fact
question for the jury to resolve. We conclude, therefore, that
the Conns have raised a genuine issue of material fact as to
the question of serious medical need.

2. “[D]efendant’s response to the need was deliber-
ately indifferent”

To demonstrate the second prong — deliberate indifference
— plaintiffs must show that the officers were (a) subjectively
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aware of the serious medical need and (b) failed to adequately
respond. Farmer, 511 U.S. at 828.

a. Subjective awareness

[8] To be liable under the Eighth Amendment for denial of
medical treatment to a detainee, an official must “know[ ] of
and disregard[ ] an excessive risk to inmate health or safety;
the official must both be aware of facts from which the infer-
ence could be drawn that a substantial risk of serious harm
exists, and he must also draw the inference.” Farmer, 511
U.S. at 834, 837. In other words, the official must demon-
strate a subjective awareness of the risk of harm.

Ashton and Robertson do not dispute that they witnessed
Clustka wrapping a seatbelt around her neck and yelling that
she wanted to die. Rather, they assert that they did not believe
Clustka’s actions to be a “serious” threat or attempt of sui-
cide. Put in Farmer’s terms, they contend that they did not
“draw the inference,” id., that Clustka was genuinely at risk
despite being “aware of facts from which the inference could
be drawn,” id. According to the officers, Clustka’s actions
seemed to them an attempt at manipulation. Once she realized
that she was being transported to jail, Clustka tapped repeat-
edly on the surveillance camera to get the officers’ attention
but received no response. By wrapping the seatbelt around her
neck, they explain, she was merely resorting to more dramatic
measures to get the officers’ attention, stop the paddy wagon,
and avoid going to jail. The officers, moreover, recall dis-
counting the seriousness of her actions on account of her state
of intoxication. They also argue that Clustka could not have
succeeded in killing herself because the seatbelt would have
slackened around her neck once she passed out, thus her
threat of suicide could not have been serious.

[9] We may not affirm the district court’s grant of the
defendants’ motion for summary judgment, however, simply
on the basis of the defendants’ assertions as to their own state
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of mind. Proof of “subjective awareness” is not limited to the
purported recollections of the individuals involved. “Whether
[an] official had the requisite knowledge of a substantial risk
IS a question of fact subject to demonstration in the usual
ways, including inference from circumstantial evidence.” Far-
mer, 511 U.S. at 842. Indeed, in certain circumstances, “a fac-
tfinder may conclude that [an] official knew of a substantial
risk from the very fact that the risk was obvious.” Id. (internal
quotations omitted). Here, there is sufficient circumstantial
evidence to create a genuine issue of fact regarding defen-
dants’ subjective awareness of Clustka’s serious medical
need.

[10] First, the Conns have presented evidence from which
the jury could conclude that Clustka’s medical need was so
obvious that Ashton and Robertson must have been subjec-
tively aware of it, despite their later denial of that awareness.
Clustka attempted to choke herself with a seat belt and
screamed something to the effect of “kill me or I’ll kill
myself”; these are warning signs that are difficult for any
observer to miss. The officers, moreover, admittedly knew
that Clustka was mentally unstable and that she was undergo-
ing a particularly stressful time. Clustka’s detail report —
which the officers requested and reviewed — cautioned: “vio-
lent tendencies, known to abuse substances, alcoholic, and
other mental health problems.” The report also indicated that
Clustka’s mother had obtained a restraining order against her.
A reasonable jury could conclude that the officers’ knowledge
of Clustka’s mental and emotional instability, coupled with
their observation of her dangerous behavior, in fact produced
a subjective awareness that Clustka was at acute risk of harm
and suffered a serious medical need.

[11] Second, the Conns offer circumstantial evidence to
explain why the officers might have failed to report the inci-
dent even if they were subjectively aware of Clustka’s medi-
cal need. Both officers believed that failing to handcuff
Clustka while transporting her, and failing to fasten her into
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her seat belt once she unbuckled it, were violations of policy.*
Had they reported the incident, they would have had to report
their own misconduct. A jury could reasonably conclude that
the officers had a motive for remaining silent.

[12] Finally, Ashton’s comments both during and after the
incident in the paddy wagon establish a genuine question of
fact regarding his subjective awareness of the seriousness of
Clustka’s condition — as well as his discomfort with the way
in which he and Robertson handled the situation. Ashton
recalls telling Robertson at the time of the incident that
Clustka “was trying to choke herself.” The next day — the
day before Clustka committed suicide — Ashton approached
a senior officer expressing his discomfort with what had tran-
spired. Later, when Ashton found out about Clustka’s suicide,
he told one deputy that Clustka had “attempted to choke her-
self” in the paddy wagon. A second deputy reported the fol-
lowing conversation:

[Ashton] stated that “she looked out the back win-
dow and once she realized she was coming to Parr
[the prison] she tried to hang herself in the wagon.”
He stated that he was “new” and therefore asked his
(unidentified) partner and senior officer if they
needed to write a report regarding the suicide
attempt. He stated that his partner declined the idea
of documenting this occurrence, therefore he did not.

(emphasis supplied). Ashton went on to say that he would
write a report and that his “sergeant will be pissed.” These
statements — both contemporaneous and after-the-fact —
could support a reasonable jury’s conclusion that Ashton, at
least, was subjectively aware of Clustka’s serious medical

4|t appears that this belief was not well-founded, and that the defendants
may not have violated policy after all. That, however, is irrelevant; what
matters is that the officers believed their actions violated policy and that
they may have feared that the policy violation would be discovered.
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need. That he brought his concerns to Robertson’s attention
is a factor to consider with respect to whether Robertson was
also subjectively aware of the problem.

[13] We hold that, cumulatively, the above evidence is suf-
ficient to create a material issue of fact on the question of the
subjective awareness of both officers. This is particularly so
because “questions involving a person’s state of mind are
generally factual issues inappropriate for resolution by sum-
mary judgment.” Mendocino Envtl. Ctr. v. Mendocino
County, 192 F.3d 1283, 1302 (9th Cir. 1999) (quotation and
internal alterations omitted). We, of course, “may not make
credibility determinations or weigh conflicting evidence.”
Bator v. Hawaii, 39 F.3d 1021, 1026 (9th Cir. 1994). We
must leave the question of subjective awareness to the jury.

b. *“Failure to respond”

[14] The officers did not take Clustka to the Medical Cen-
ter, nor did they report her behavior to jail personnel or to
their supervising sergeant; they did not even write an incident
report on the day that Clustka tried to choke herself. The
defendants do not argue that, if we find that the officers were
subjectively aware of Clustka’s serious medical need, they
nonetheless responded appropriately. The defendants are not,
therefore, entitled to summary judgment on the ground that
the officers responded adequately to the situation presented.

3. “[H]arm caused by the indifference”

The question of causation is closer. We are satisfied, none-
theless, that the Conns presented sufficient evidence of actual
and proximate causation to defeat summary judgment and
give rise to a jury question whether the officers’ omissions
caused Clustka’s eventual suicide.

a. Cause in fact

[15] The officers’ failure to report the choking incident and
suicide threat “is the actual cause of [the] injury only if the
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injury would not have occurred ‘but for’ that conduct.” White
v. Roper, 901 F.2d 1501, 1505 (9th Cir. 1990) (citing W.
Prosser & W. Keeton, The Law of Torts [hereinafter “Prosser
& Keeton] § 41, at 266 (5th ed. 1984)). “The requisite causal
connection can be established not only by some kind of direct
personal participation in the deprivation, but also by setting in
motion a series of acts by others which the actor knows or
reasonably should know would cause others to inflict the con-
stitutional injury.” Johnson v. Duffy, 588 F.2d 740, 743-44
(9th Cir. 1978). The Conns contend that had the officers
responded appropriately to her attempted choking and suicide
threat, Clustka would not have committed suicide at the time
she did and that the officers’ failure to respond set in motion
a sequence of events in which Clustka did not receive the
medical treatment she urgently needed. We agree that the
Conns have presented sufficient material evidence on cause in
fact such that a jury could reasonably find in their favor.

The Conns argue that, had the officers properly responded
to the choking incident and threat of suicide in either of two
ways, they would have prevented her suicide less than 48
hours later. In support of this assertion, they presented expert
testimony to establish the appropriate procedures for handling
detainees who threaten suicide — procedures that were not
followed here. Based on this testimony, the Conns assert that
first, the officers could have properly taken Clustka directly
to the hospital under a Legal 2000 procedure and reported the
incident to hospital staff. Second, the officers could have con-
tinued on to the jail and reported the incident to jail personnel
upon their arrival. At that point, jail personnel would have
either (1) rejected Clustka at the door and sent her to the hos-
pital, since the jail cannot provide medical treatment during
civil protective custody; or (2) admitted her and placed her
under suicide watch until she was detoxified, then evaluated
her and sent her to the hospital under a Legal 2000. According
to the plaintiffs, under either of these procedures Clustka
would have received timely suicide intervention services by
trained medical personnel who had full information about her
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most recent suicide attempt. At this point, she would have
been kept in the hospital for up to 72 hours or would have, in
some other way, received appropriate services in response to
her acute risk of suicide.

Defendants counter that the outcome of either of these pro-
cedures “amount[s] to mere speculation.” They point to the
fact that on two occasions, including on April 26, Clustka was
evaluated at the emergency room and released soon thereafter
without being transferred to a psychiatric facility. On three
occasions between 2001 and 2005 when Clustka was trans-
ferred to NMHI, she did not stay there longer than a day.
Defendants note that each time a patient is seen at the emer-
gency room, the medical evaluation is based solely on the
patient’s psychological state at that moment. Because Clustka
did not physically harm herself while in CPC on April 26,
there is reason to think that she was no longer suicidal at the
moment she was released. Consequently, had she been evalu-
ated by medical staff at the prison or hospital at that time,
even had the medical staff been fully informed of the choking
incident and suicide threat, she may well have been released
from the jail or from the emergency room without further
intervention. Finally, defendants argue that even if the officers
had notified jail or hospital personnel of Clustka’s actions and
she had been flagged as a suicide risk, if she had been
released on April 26 (from either CPC or the emergency
room), the information about the choking incident and suicide
threat would not have been passed along to the jail intake per-
sonnel when Clustka was detained the next day on the misde-
meanor charge; therefore, she would not have been put on
suicide watch or treated any differently than she was.® The jail
keeps minimal documentation regarding CPC detainees —

°The jail already was aware that a month earlier, Clustka had been put
on suicide watch at the prison and that she had a history of mental health
problems. For that reason she was placed in the mental health unit. None-
theless, without the information about her most recent suicide
attempt/threat, she was not placed on suicide watch on April 27, 2005.
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apparently for privacy reasons — since these detainees have
not been charged with a crime and are merely in custody for
their own protection. As a result, there is an information gap
between CPC and the criminal detention facilities at the jail,
and mental health information about CPC detainees will gen-
erally be inaccessible if those individuals are later detained on
a criminal charge. When, after being released on April 26,
Clustka was picked up the next day on a misdemeanor charge,
unless the same intake nurse was on duty as on the day
before, it is likely that no one at the jail would have known
that she had been flagged as a suicide risk in CPC the previ-
ous day, and her treatment would have been no different.

When presented to the jury, the defendants’ argument may
well succeed. It is not, however, sufficient to warrant judicial
determination of causation as a matter of law. The defendants’
argument rests on the questionable assumption that knowl-
edge of Clustka’s second suicide threat in two days, if
reported upon her arrival at the jail or at a hospital, would not
have raised an alarm for medical personnel such that Clustka
would have received more precautionary treatment than she
otherwise did. It presupposes, moreover, that any such treat-
ment would have been ineffective and that, regardless, the
subsequent events would have occurred when they did. It
makes little sense, however, to argue that the failure to pro-
vide access to suicide prevention services has no causal effect
on a suicide that transpires less than 48 hours later. If suicide
intervention is expected to have no impact on whether some-
one attempts suicide, why would the City ever bother with the
Legal 2000 procedure? Suicide prevention services are
designed to assess the patient and release her only after a
determination that she is no longer at risk. In Clustka’s case,
this determination was never made by someone who had all
the requisite information about her psychological instability
at the time. A jury could reasonably find that the defendants’
failure to report critical information rendered the subsequent
medical evaluations ineffectual. Clustka’s suicide might well
have been prevented by effective medical intervention —
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such as holding her on a Legal 2000 for up to 72 hours — but
that intervention would likely have occurred only if the cru-
cial information about the choking incident and suicide threat
were known by the persons making the necessary determina-
tions.

[16] We cannot affirm the grant of a motion for summary
judgment where, as here, each side has garnered substantial
evidence in support of its position, and important facts,
including the proper intake procedures for an intoxicated, sui-
cidal detainee, remain in dispute. The Conns have presented
evidence that knowledge of Clustka’s suicide attempt and
threat of future suicide would have made a difference in her
medical evaluation, treatment and supervision. We construe
that evidence in the light most favorable to the Conns.
McDonald, 548 F.3d at 778. There need only be “evidence in
the record to support the inference that if medical staff had
evaluated [Clustka], prevented [her] from entering the jail,
and directed [her] to a mental hospital [Clustka] almost cer-
tainly would have received the care [s]he needed, rather than
face conditions that worsened [her] outlook.” Gibson, 290
F.3d at 1190. As the Conns have met their burden, we will
leave the jury to its proper function of assessing the weight
and credibility of that evidence as well as that presented by
the defendants. See Bator, 39 F.3d at 1026.

b. Proximate cause

[17] “Once it is established that the defendant’s conduct
has in fact been one of the causes of the plaintiff ’s injury,
there remains the question whether the defendant should be
legally responsible for the injury.” White, 901 F.2d at 1506
(citing Prosser & Keaton, § 42 at 272-73). The officers’ con-
duct “is not the proximate cause of [Clustka’s] alleged inju-
ries if another cause intervenes and supersedes [their] liability
for the subsequent events.” Id. (quoting Restatement (Second)
of Torts 88 440-53 (1965)). However, “foreseeable interven-
ing causes . . . will not supersede the defendant’s responsibili-
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ty.” Id. (citing Prosser & Keeton, § 44 at 303-04) (emphasis
added). If “reasonable persons could differ” over the question
of foreseeability, “summary judgment is inappropriate and the
question should be left to the jury.” Id.

Where defendant’s actions are a “moving force” behind a
series of events that ultimately lead to a foreseeable harm,
defendant is not relieved of liability on account of the inter-
vening acts. See id; see also Duffy, 588 F.2d at 743; Cabrales
v. County of Los Angeles, 864 F.2d 1454 (9th Cir. 1988),
vacated, 490 U.S. 1087 (1989), reinstated, 886 F.2d 235 (9th
Cir. 1989). In White, defendant prison guards tried to force
the plaintiff into a violent inmate’s cell; the plaintiff resisted,
attempted to run, and subsequently suffered injury from the
guards. 901 F.2d at 1503. We held that the defendants’
actions were a “moving force” behind the plaintiff ’s attempt
to run and that, because it was foreseeable that the plaintiff
would resist entering the cell, his attempt to run was not an
intervening cause. 1d. at 1505-06. In Cabrales, which involves
municipal rather than individual liability, an inmate made a
suicidal gesture while in isolation, after which prison officials
released him to the general jail population. Cabrales, 864
F.2d at 1457. Subsequently, he got into a fight and was sub-
jected to ten days in isolation, during which time he commit-
ted suicide. Id. We held that the County’s inadequate
provision of psychiatric care was a “moving force” behind the
suicide. Id. at 1461. Similarly, a jury could reasonably find
that the officers’ failure to respond to Clustka’s suicidal
actions was a “moving force” behind her suicide.

[18] Defendants argue that two principal intervening causes
of Clustka’s suicide supersede whatever responsibility they
might otherwise have had for causing her death. First, they
argue that because Clustka was medically evaluated three
times after the choking incident and suicide threat and each
time determined not to be at risk of suicide, her suicide could
not have been caused by the officers’ failure to report it. We
disagree. At none of the three examinations, two of which
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were cursory jail admission screenings, was potential suicide
a cause for or the subject of the review. When medical exam-
iners have insufficient information about the patient they are
diagnosing, they are likely to give an inaccurate diagnosis. By
failing to report Clustka’s choking and threat of suicide, the
officers rendered these reviews of little value. More impor-
tant, by doing so, they foreseeably undermined her access to
effective medical evaluations and adequate mental health
care. A jury could reasonably conclude that notwithstanding
the subsequent uninformed medical reviews, the failure to
take action following the incident in the paddy wagon was a
moving force and proximate cause of Clustka’s suicide.

[19] Second, defendants argue that Clustka’s subsequent
arrest and detention on a misdemeanor charge was an inter-
vening stressor that directly caused the suicide, breaking the
chain of causation. Again, however, plaintiffs have presented
sufficient material evidence to raise a jury question on the
issue of foreseeability. Even if she had not been detained
again, it was clear from the officers’ direct observations of
Clustka and from her detail report that she was mentally
unstable, that she suffered from alcohol and substance abuse,
and that she was having family troubles that exacerbated these
problems. In these circumstances, an incident that would fur-
ther destabilize her — whether detention or some other simi-
lar intervening force — was entirely foreseeable.

[20] Construing all the evidence in the light most favorable
to the Conns, McDonald, 548 F.3d at 778, we conclude that
they have presented sufficient evidence of foreseeability that
the question of proximate cause must be decided by a jury.

B. Qualified immunity

[21] We next assess whether summary judgment is war-
ranted because the defendants are entitled to qualified immu-
nity. We apply a two-part inquiry: First, did the defendants’
actions violate the Constitution? Second, if so, was the right
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violated clearly established? Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194,
201 (2001); Pearson v. Callahan, 129 S. Ct. 808, 818 (2009)
(holding the “sequence set forth [in Saucier] is often appropri-
ate” but not mandatory). Having determined that there is a
question for the jury on the first prong, we consider whether
we should nonetheless affirm the grant of summary judgment
at this stage because the constitutional rights at issue have not
been clearly established. This second inquiry “must be
undertaken in light of the specific context of the case, not as
a broad general proposition . . . .” Saucier, 533 U.S. at 201.
“The relevant, dispositive inquiry in determining whether a
right is clearly established is whether it would be clear to a
reasonable officer that his conduct was unlawful in the situa-
tion he confronted.” Id. at 202. Officers are entitled to quali-
fied immunity if they reasonably misapprehend how the law
would govern in their particular situation. Id at 205.

[22] Qualified immunity is not warranted here. It is clearly
established that the Eighth Amendment protects against delib-
erate indifference to a detainee’s serious risk of suicide. See
Cabrales, 864 F.2d 1454; Cavalieri v. Shepard, 321 F.3d 616,
621 (7th Cir. 2003); Colburn, 946 F.2d at 1023. When a
detainee attempts or threatens suicide en route to jail, it is
obvious that the transporting officers must report the incident
to those who will next be responsible for her custody and
safety. Thus, the constitutional right at issue here has been
clearly established. Nevertheless, for the same reason that we
cannot determine at summary judgment whether a constitu-
tional violation occurred, a grant of summary judgment to
either party with regard to qualified immunity would be inap-
propriate.

C. Municipal liability

Under Monell, a municipality is a legal “person” subject to
liability under § 1983 for injuries it inflicts through deliberate
indifference. Monell v. Dep’t of Social Servs. of City of N.Y.,
436 U.S. 658, 690-91 (1978). Municipal liability may be
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established on account of the city’s deliberate acts or omis-
sions; liability under the theory of respondeat superior, how-
ever, is insufficient to support a § 1983 violation. Id. at 691;
Gibson, 290 F.3d at 1185-86. Municipal liability for a failure
to act requires a showing “(1) that a [municipal] employee
violated the plaintiff ’s constitutional rights; (2) that the
[municipality] has customs or policies that amount to deliber-
ate indifference; and (3) that these customs or policies were
the moving force behind the employee’s violation of constitu-
tional rights.” Long v. County of L.A., 442 F.3d 1178, 1186
(9th Cir. 2006) (citing Gibson, 290 F.3d at 1193-94). Because
we have denied the defendants’ motion for summary judg-
ment on the constitutional claims against Robertson and Ash-
ton, the first prong has been met for the purposes of summary
judgment here as well.

The Conns seek to establish municipal liability on account
of four separate omissions: (1) failure to train; (2) failure to
adopt and implement policies; (3) failure to address Officer
Robertson’s deficient performance; and (4) failure to disci-
pline. We consider each of these claims in turn.

1. Failure to Train

[23] “Only where a failure to train reflects a “deliberate’ or
‘conscious’ choice by a municipality . . . can a city be liable
for such a failure under § 1983.” City of Canton v. Harris,
489 U.S. 378, 389 (1989). Deliberate indifference by the
municipality may be established where “a violation of federal
rights may be a highly predictable consequence of a failure to
equip law enforcement officers with specific tools to handle
recurring situations.” Long, 442 F.3d at 1186 (quoting Bd. of
County Comm’rs v. Brown, 520 U.S. 397, 409 (1997)).

Under this standard, the Conns have established a genuine
issue of fact for the jury on the question of the City of Reno’s
failure to train. First, they have provided substantial evidence
in the form of deposition testimony that before Clustka’s sui-
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cide the City did, in fact, fail to train its officers in suicide
prevention and the identification of suicide risks. The City of
Reno has not provided any evidence to the contrary.

Second, plaintiffs have provided evidence that officers pre-
dictably face situations where they must assess and react to
suicide risks in order to prevent grave harm to people under
their protection. Suicide is a leading cause of death in Ameri-
can prisons, Shevon L. Scarafile, ““Deliberate Indifference”
or Not, 51 Vill. L. Rev. 1133, 1133-34 & n.4 (2006), and
Clustka’s suicide was one of six in less than two years at the
Washoe County Jail. While police officers are not prison
guards, they are the first law enforcement officials to deal
with detainees — and they do so in highly stressful situations.
Robertson testified that over the course of his career, he has
encountered between 500 and 1,000 people threatening to kill
themselves. Police officers frequently take mentally ill detain-
ees to the hospital on Legal 2000s. The failure to train officers
on how to identify and when to report suicide risks produces
a “highly predictable consequence”: that police officers will
fail to respond to serious risks of suicide and that constitu-
tional violations will ensue.

Finally, plaintiffs have made an adequate showing that, had
the City trained its officers, the violation of Clustka’s consti-
tutional rights could have been avoided. For a policy to be a
moving force behind the violation of a constitutional right, the
failure of the policy or omission must be “closely related to
the ultimate injury.” Gibson, 290 F.3d at 1196 (quoting Can-
ton, 489 U.S. at 391). Here, Robertson and Ashton believed
that they had the discretion not to report the choking incident
and suicide threat in the paddy wagon. Had they been trained
in suicide prevention, there is a reasonable probability that
they would have responded differently and reported to the jail
that Clustka was at risk of suicide, or taken her directly to the
hospital.

[24] For these reasons, plaintiffs have presented sufficient
evidence to establish a genuine issue of fact with respect to
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municipal liability for failure to train. Because the City failed
to train its police officers in suicide prevention, a reasonable
jury could find that the City’s “customs or policies . . .
amount to deliberate indifference;” and because Ashton and
Robertson, who never received such training, failed to
respond appropriately by reporting the incident in the paddy
wagon, there is sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to
find “that these customs or policies were the moving force
behind the employee[s’] violation of constitutional rights.”
Long, 442 F.3d at 1186. “[W]hether a local government has
displayed a policy of deliberate indifference to the constitu-
tional rights of its citizens is generally a jury question.” Gib-
son, 290 F.3d at 1194-95. We are compelled to deny the
motion for summary judgment on municipal liability for fail-
ure to train.

2. Failure to Adopt and Implement Policies

Plaintiffs also challenge the lack of an official, written pol-
icy on suicide prevention. “This Court consistently has found
that a county’s lack of affirmative policies or procedures to
guide employees can amount to deliberate indifference, even
when the county had other general policies in place.” Long
442 F.3d at 1189.

The Conns assert — and appear to be correct — that there
was no written policy on reporting suicide threats at the time
of Clustka’s suicide,® although there were written policies
regarding the Legal 2000 procedure. The absence of any writ-
ten policy is supported by the fact that neither Robertson nor
Ashton was disciplined for failing to report Clustka’s suicide
threat, although each received negative comments about the
incident in their annual evaluation. Post-event evidence, such
as this, is admissible to prove the absence of a municipal

®Deputy Chief Johns was “not sure” if there was a written policy requir-
ing officers to report suicide threats.
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defendant’s policy or practice. Henry v. County of Shasta, 132
F.3d 512, 520 (9th Cir. 1997).

Shortly after Clustka’s suicide, moreover, the City imple-
mented a new suicide prevention policy. At intake in the jail,
the arresting officer must now fill out a form answering a
series of questions concerning the detainee’s mental health,
including questions about suicide risk. No such policy had
been adopted and implemented as of April 26, 2005.

[25] As the Conns have presented sufficient evidence of a
failure to adopt and implement suicide-prevention policies so
as to give rise to a jury question, the rest of our analysis mir-
rors that which we described above regarding the failure to
train. Given the predictability of suicide risk among detainees,
and the likelihood of constitutional violations if suicide
threats go unreported, the plaintiffs have presented a genuine
issue for the jury on whether the failure to adopt and imple-
ment policies on suicide prevention was deliberately indiffer-
ent, and whether that deliberate indifference was a “moving
force” behind the violation of Clustka’s constitutional rights.

3. Failure to address the deficient performance of
Officer Robertson

[26] Whatever Robertson’s on-the-job weaknesses may
have been, there is no evidence in the record that the munici-
pality should have known — or did know — that Robertson
would be likely to show deliberate indifference in circum-
stances such as these. Moreover, the causal link between the
City’s failure to address his deficient performance in other
aspects of his job and his failure to respond appropriately here
is tenuous at best. Accordingly, we affirm the grant of sum-
mary judgment on this issue.

4. Failure to discipline

Robertson and Ashton were not disciplined in any way for
their misconduct in failing to report the choking incident and
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suicide threat. They each received some negative comments
about their handling of the situation in their annual reports,
written by their supervising sergeant.

[27] A failure to discipline is not a separate ground for
establishing municipal liability. Rather, it is evidence that
tends to establish the absence of or failure to enforce a policy
on suicide prevention. We will therefore affirm the district
court’s grant of summary judgment on this issue as well,
without commenting on the admissibility of the particular evi-
dence regarding the two officers for the purpose described
above.

IV. CONCLUSION

Clustka’s surviving children have presented sufficient evi-
dence to survive summary judgment on the large majority of
the claims brought under § 1983. On the basis of the evidence
presented by the Conns, the jury could reasonably find that
Clustka demonstrated a serious medical need when she
attempted to choke herself with a seatbelt in the paddy wagon
and threatened to kill herself; that Ashton and Robertson were
deliberately indifferent to that medical need; and that their
indifference was a factual and proximate cause of Clustka’s
death. On the basis of the Conns’ evidence, a jury could also
reasonably determine that the City of Reno’s failure to train
its law enforcement officials and implement written policies
on suicide prevention constituted deliberate indifference and
were, independently, a moving force behind Ashton and Rob-
ertson’s violation of Clustka’s constitutional rights.

We therefore reverse the district court’s grant of the defen-
dants’ motion for summary judgment with respect to individ-
ual and municipal liability, with the exception that we affirm
the grant of summary judgment with respect to the City’s fail-
ure to address Robertson’s deficient performance and its fail-
ure to discipline the individual officers. The case is remanded
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to the district court for further proceedings consistent with
this opinion.

REVERSED and REMANDED.



